

Mehran Ansari

Fluent & Fearless: Unlocking Language Mastery in Speaking Fluency

Mehran Ansari

In the Name of God

ارتباط با نویسنده: وبسایت www.Mehran-Ansari.ir (ه اینستاگرام Mehran_Ansariii تلگرام MehranAnsariii

CONTENTS

Introduction	5
The Definition of 'Language Fluency'	7
The Challenges that Learners Face	9
Strategies for Enhancing Students' Language Fluency	23
The Role of 'Scaffolded Learning'	25
The Science of Shadowing	31
Conversational Strategies for Fluent Communication	35
The Effect of Storytelling on Students' Fluency	39
Hesitation and Pause	43
Using Fillers to Avoid Hesitation	47
How to Cultivate Abundant & Engaging Ideas	51
How to Improve Students' Brainstorming Skill	55
How to Build Up Students' Confidence	59
Engaging Tasks to Enhance Students' Language Fluency	63
The Effect of Non-Verbal Communication	69
References	73

Introduction

In an increasingly interconnected world, the ability to communicate effectively in multiple languages has become a coveted skill, opening doors to new opportunities, enriching cultural understanding, and fostering connections across borders. Language fluency goes beyond the mere grasp of vocabulary and grammar; it embodies the art of confidently expressing oneself, effortlessly navigating conversations, and immersing in the essence of a new linguistic world.

Drawing upon the importance of fluency in a language, this book can be useful for both teachers and students, as it is about lanaguge fluency in speaking, who are teaching or learning English as a foreign or second language.Whether you are a teacher struggling with the hurdles of language fluency in your teaching, or you are a beginner learner setting out on your linguistic journey, or an intermediate striving for mastery, this book will serve as your trusted companion, guiding you through the intricacies of language acquisition and equipping you with the tools and techniques to overcome challenges along the way.

It extensively examines the aspects of fluency, with a specific emphasis on spoken language proficiency. It delves into various dimensions of fluency acquisition, including the challenges encountered by language learners, effective strategies to overcome these challenges and enhance fluency, as well as additional aids and methodologies contributing to successful language fluency attainment.

Mehran Ansari Spring, 2023

The Definition of 'Language Fluency'

Language fluency is a controversial topic among language educators and learners alike. While some argue that fluency requires native-like proficiency in all aspects of the language, the majority consider fluency a continuum, the ability to speak smoothly and effectively on various topics within the target language. Rather than striving for absolute accuracy, fluency is achieved through a degree of competence in the language. Linguists hold diverse interpretations of second language fluency, but at ICLS¹ fluency is defined as expressing oneself confidently, competently, and smoothly in a non-native language. Mastery of vocabulary is not a prerequisite for fluency, as even native speakers may not be familiar with all words in the language. Instead, understanding the associations between words and phrases is what conveys meaning. While words are significant. interlinking them and their meanings is essential to optimal communication.

Now, let's have a look at various quotes on the definition of fluency by different linguists:

- The American Council on the Teaching of Foreign Languages (ACTFL) defines language fluency as "the ability to use the language spontaneously and accurately in a wide variety of situations for communicative purposes".²

¹⁻ International Conference on the Learning Sciences

²⁻ ACTFL, 1999, p. 7

- The Common European Framework of Reference for Languages (CEFR) describes language fluency as "the ability to communicate with ease in order to participate fully in a conversation, to express oneself with precise expression and with the nuance needed to convey subtle difference in meaning".¹
- According to linguist Chaney, "fluency refers to the ability to communicate in a language without hesitation or pause, and to do so with the correct grammar and vocabulary".²
- Fluency concerns the learner's capacity to mobilize an interlanguage system to communicate meanings in real-time.³
- A famous linguist, Jack C. Richards, defines language fluency as "the ability to produce language easily and effortlessly".⁴
- And Tracy D. Terrell, a renowned language educator, describes fluency as "the ability to communicate with ease and accuracy in a range of situations".⁵

- 3- Skehan, 1997
- 4- Richards, 2006, p. 401
- 5- Terrell, 2001, p. 181

¹⁻ CEFR, 2001, p. 11

²⁻ Chaney, 1998, p. 4

The Challenges that Learners Face When Trying to Achieve Fluency in a Language

1. One of the critical challenges learners deal with in achieving language fluency is *vocabulary*. Vocabulary is the set of words that a person knows, understands and uses correctly in speech or writing. The greater the range of vocabulary a learner possesses, the better their language fluency is since they know how to talk about different topics in various situations with a wide range of suitable vocabulary, without any pause for finding the words. However, vocabulary acquisition can be difficult for some reasons mentioned below.

- 1.1. Vocabulary range: To acquire language fluency, learners need to have a wide range of vocabulary. In fact, becoming master in fluency requires that a person acquire ten thousand to twenty thousand words in a comprehensive way in order to use. Therefore, learners must allocate time, patience, and practice to develop their knowledge and understanding of words.
- 1.2. Complexity: Words in another language can have complex meanings that can be demanding to understand. Also, some words have multiple meanings (like the word *spring*) depending on the context in which they are used, which can add a layer of difficulty for language learners.
- 1.3.Low frequency words: Some words occur less often than others in everyday conversations (as the word

rebarbative which means unattractive), making it more challenging to use them in context appropriately since they are not used frequently.

- *1.4.Pronunciation:* Vocabulary learning also involves learning to pronounce words correctly, which can be hard because learners are not familiar with the aspects of pronunciation, such as chunking, word stress, intonation since they are not living in the country of the target language.
- 1.5. Specialized vocabulary: Different fields have specialized words and phrases (*jargon*) that may not be used in everyday language. For learners interested in academic fields, this means having to learn suitable new vocabulary for their chosen field.

How to overcome vocabulary-related problems?

To overcome the challenges with learning vocabulary, learners can use various strategies like flashcards, reading, listening to podcasts, and watching movies or videos in the target language. It is very essential to practise using new words in a context through speaking and writing exercises, make examples, and immerse oneself in the language environment as much as possible. With consistent and concentrated effort, vocabulary acquisition can become more natural, and learners can overcome the challenges on their journey towards language fluency.

2. Another significant challenge that learners face when attempting to achieve language fluency is mastering *grammar*. Grammar is the set of rules that govern the structure of a language, including syntax, morphology, and verb conjugation. Although grammar is essential to effectively communicating in a language, it can be difficult for learners due to:

- 2.1.Complex Structure: The grammar in some languages can be highly complex, making it challenging to learn and apply the rules correctly. For instance, based on experience, the different types of conditional sentences (if- clauses) are somehow challenging for some English learners to learn and use as they are considered complex structures.
- 2.2.Different from Native Language (L1): The grammar rules may differ from those of the learner's native language, which can make it difficult to grasp the underlying concepts. Many students translate the target language into their mother tongue while using the structures in their speech, so it becomes incorrect in the target language.
- 2.3.Memorization: Much like vocabulary, grammar requires learners to memorize rules and apply them in context. This can be especially challenging if the grammar does not follow predictable patterns. For example, there are many exceptions in English language grammar, one of which is the exception in forming some uncountable and countable nouns. The word *deer* is an uncountable noun which cannot be used with the plural 's' in that language. These unpredictable patterns can be confusing for learners.
- 2.4. Pronunciation: Proper grammar can also require correct pronunciation, which can be an obstacle for learners who struggle with the sounds that are not present in their native language. To make an example regarding the English language grammar, pronouncing some Irregular plural verbs might be quite challenging for learners. Some English nouns form their plurals by adding 's' or 'es', which is confusing for students to pronounce. They sometimes get mixed up about the sound 's', 'z', or '1z'; like the word *challenges* in its plural form that is pronounced '1z'.

2.5.*Fear of error:* And lastly, the fear of making mistakes can make learners hesitant to speak confidently, which is necessary to gain proficiency and fluency.

How to overcome the grammar-related problems?

To tackle the problems of grammar, learners must practise the rules repeatedly in various contexts, until the grammar becomes intuitive. Language games, speech or writing exercises, and review of errors and corrections with peers or teachers can help reinforce grammar rules. As learners gain confidence in their abilities, they can push themselves out of their comfort zone by participating in language exchanges to practise grammar in diverse situations. It is important to remember that grammar usage contributes to the quality of speaking, but creating meaning is the ultimate goal of learning a language. Language teachers should indicate that as long as students can convey their message meaningfully, there is no need to be very sensitive. So, students should not worry about or sensitive to small details and rules in their learning process.

3. Pronunciation is another challenge of language fluency for many learners. Pronunciation is the act of producing sounds and articulating words correctly in a language. While mispronunciation of words may be received with goodwill and understanding from native speakers, learners can avoid some distracting confusion and convey intended meaning more effectively if they can pronounce words accurately. Below are some of the challenges of pronunciation in language fluency:

3.1.Sound System: Different languages have unique sounds that can be challenging for non-native speakers to replicate accurately. Some languages may even have sounds that do not exist in the learner's native language. For example, the 'th' sound, as in the word *think*, is not present in the Persian language. In English, the 'th' sound is produced by placing the tip of the tongue between the upper and lower front teeth and blowing air. This sound is absent in Persian, and speakers of Persian typically substitute it for a 's' or 'z' sound.

- 3.2. *Phonetics:* Phonetics is the study of the sounds of a language. It is an essential aspect of language fluency while working on pronunciation. Learning phonetics helps learners identify, articulate, and produce sounds they have not previously used.
- *3.3.Mouth/muscle training:* Pronunciation requires specific training to develop muscle memory for movements like where to place the tongue and lips¹. For instance, French has a guttural 'r'², while Mandarin requires tonal inflections³ that affect word meaning.
- *3.4.Intonation/rhythm:* Learners need to understand sentence stress, intonation, and rhythm, as the wrong emphasis or the wrong placement of stress can change the meaning of a sentence or word.
- 3.5.Accents: Different regions or countries may have distinct accents that can affect the way learners learn to speak, which may not be a common choice of accent for language learners. American, Scottish, and British accents are some examples.

¹⁻ As mentioned in 3.1

²⁻ Guttural refers to sounds that are produced with the back of the tongue and the soft palate at the back of the mouth. These sounds are typically characterized by a deep, rough, and throaty quality, like the words 'Growl' or 'Rumble'.

³⁻ Refers to the variation in pitch or tone that occurs when speaking certain languages or dialects. It involves altering the pitch level of a syllable or word to convey different meanings.

How to overcome the challenges related to pronunciation?

To combat these challenges, learners can take some steps like focusing on learning one sound at a time. Seek feedback from native speakers and use recording devices to listen to one's voice, learn the word in a repeated manner, learn a single accent, and practise tongue twisters to sharpen the mouth muscles. Additionally, learners can watch videos on places where pronunciation is emphasized, like tongue and mouth positions, to practise the pronunciation of words. Also, watching movies in the target language and *shadowing* is so useful.^T By incorporating consistent pronunciation practice into language study, learners can overcome the more confident their challenges and become in pronunciation, which will contribute to their overall fluency in the new language.

4. Another challenge that language learners confront is *colloquialism*. Colloquialism refers to informal words and phrases used by native speakers that are not typically found in standard textbooks. Colloquialism is idiosyncratic and reflects the traditions, values, and culture of the people who use the language. It can be difficult for non-native speakers who have learned the language in a formal context to recognize and use idiomatic expressions in a natural way. Some of the challenges of colloquialism are mentioned below.

- 4.1.Idiomatic phrases: Colloquialisms consist of idiomatic phrases that may be culturally specific or based on region-specific events that may not be found in dictionaries.
- 4.2.Informal nature: Colloquialisms are informal expressions because they are used between close friends or in casual

¹⁻ Shadowing technique is explained in detail in chapter 5.

group settings. They include slang, jargon, and idioms. As an example, the phrase **YOLO** is a slang that has emerged from internet culture and stands for 'You only live once'. It became popularized by rapper Drake in his song 'The Motto'. It signifies enjoyable actions and living life to the fullest, often with a sense of taking risks or living in the moment without worrying about consequences. While it might not be listed in English dictionaries, it has gained recognition among younger generations through its use in social media and online communication.

- 4.3.Low frequency of use: Learners may not encounter colloquialism in language textbooks because textbooks tend to contain more formal language which is found in academic and professional settings.
- 4.4. Context-dependent: Colloquialism often has contextual nuances which can make it challenging for learners to understand how and when to use them correctly, leading to confusion when these expressions are used in a novel context.
- 4.5.Regional Differences: Colloquialisms may vary from region to region and can be difficult to learn as the correct phrase may differ depending on where the speaker is from.

How to overcome the issue of colloquialism?

To meet the challenge of colloquialism, learners should expose themselves to the language beyond textbooks by listening to the language in real-life situations. By engaging with native speakers, learners can observe informal language usage in natural contexts, including movies, TV shows, music, and other online resources. Watching comedies or humorous clips in the target language can aid learners to decode metaphors, expressions, and jokes, making it a fun

way of learning. Additionally, seeking feedback from native speakers or mentors to clarify the meaning of colloquial terms in context can lead to better understanding. Therefore, the best solution is to immerse oneself in the culture of the language, which can help to internalize colloquialisms and incorporate their usage into everyday speech.

5. Another considerable challenge that learners face in achieving language fluency is *navigating cultural differences*. Culture is deeply ingrained in language and is a crucial aspect to understand and use language appropriately. Cultural differences involve everything from differences in humor, social cues, values, norms, and language etiquette. Learners need to recognize and understand cultural differences to achieve effective communication with native speakers. Below, we are discussing some of the challenges of cultural differences in language fluency.

- 5.1.Social Norms: Greetings, introducing oneself, and addressing people vary from culture to culture. In some cultures, it is appropriate to bow, shake hands, or even hug a friend when meeting, whereas, in others, a nod of the head or a simple hello will suffice.
- *5.2.Non-verbal Cues:* Nonverbal communication also differs among cultures, including facial expressions, hand gestures, and body language, which can significantly impact communication with native speakers.¹
- 5.3. Values and Beliefs: Values and beliefs are intrinsically linked to language, so misunderstandings can occur if learners are not aware of the cultural norms and issues related to the language. The way of expressing politeness and modesty, showing respect to the elderly, women's

¹⁻ In chapter 14, we will be discussing non-verbal communication in detail

roles, and family values can differ from one language and culture to another.

- 5.4.Humor: Humor is also culture-specific. In different cultures, funny things may differ. Using humor in a language other than one's own can be challenging if one does not know the cultural context of the joke.
- 5.5. Gender-based language: Gender-based language is one of the significant cultural differences in many languages. In some languages, the constructions of sentences have a marked difference depending on the gender of the person, and the wrong usage can convey gender insensitivity or introduce bias.

How to overcome this issue in learning a language?

In order to overcome this challenge, learners should immerse themselves in the target culture through various means. Listening to music, watching movies in the target language, attending cultural events of the target language in the community will help to internalize cultural practices. Additionally, Learners should spend time studying cultural norms, values, gestures, and expressions specific to the target language they are learning. Seeking feedback from a language mentor, someone native to the culture, or even an online community of native speakers can provide valuable information for proper usage of language in context.

6. *Fear of making mistakes* is also a significant obstacle. Fear of making mistakes in language learning can be paralyzing and can prevent learners from communicating with confidence. It can be incredibly discouraging when learners fear to be perceived as incompetent in front of native speakers or peers. We are mentioning some of the challenges of fear of making mistakes in language fluency below.

- 6.1.Personal Perception: When learners are overly selfcritical, even minor mistakes can impact their selfesteem, preventing them from speaking up in a diverse linguistic environment.
- 6.2.Social Embarrassment: Learners often experience anxiety and fear of embarrassment while speaking in front of people. The fear of being laughed at or ridiculed for mispronouncing, or incorrectly using vocabulary and grammar structures, can be a very real impediment.
- 6.3. Overthinking: Overthinking tends to create more mistakes by analyzing rather than just naturally speaking. This tendency can be counterintuitive to learning the language fluently and effectively.
- 6.4.Inhibition: Ultimately, fear of mistakes can lead to inhibition, a lack of willingness to try, and a reluctance to speak, leading to poor fluency and less opportunity to improve.

How to tackle this challenge?

To overcome the fear of making mistakes in language fluency, learners must adopt the right mindset from the start. Acknowledging mistakes as a natural part of the learning process by teachers builds self-confidence. Practising frequently and taking small steps of progress daily rather than aiming for perfection can lead to warding off anxiousness. Toxic self-criticism should be avoided. Sharing experiences with fellow learners, joining language learning communities (discussion courses) with shared goals, and taking constructive feedback from teachers can help students overcome this hurdle and build the necessary confidence and resilience to become a confident speaker. Remember that making mistakes is part of the process and how you learn – the most important is to keep practising, and having fun with the language you are learning. 7. Another major challenge that learners face in terms of fluency is *Lack of immersion in the target language*. Fluency in language typically relies on an individual's capacity to practise the language in situations that simulate the real-world scenarios as accurately as possible. Without proper immersion, learners may find it difficult to develop style, rhythm, and pace necessary to communicate effectively in that language. Some of the challenges of lack of immersion in language fluency are:

- 7.1.Understanding the Culture: Language forms a fundamental aspect of culture, so understanding the culture surrounding the language is key to fluency.¹ Without immersion in the culture of the language, learners may struggle to understand the nuances and context that are essential for language mastery.
- 7.2.Non-native environment: Learning a language in a controlled and non-native environment like a classroom may not offer the necessary exposure to the native ways of using the language. This can lead to imperfect preparation for real-life situations and less comprehension of the language.
- 7.3. Contextual Learning: Immersion in the language is critical for the contextual understanding of words and phrases commonly used in specific situations. This helps to internalize the usage of the appropriate language when similar situations arise in the future.
- 7.4.Real-time Feedback: Without exposure to native speakers, learners miss an opportunity to get real-time feedback on the spoken language. Feedback helps in identifying flaws and improving the overall language fluency.

¹⁻ As mentioned in the part related to culture

7.5.Neural Pathways: Language acquisition occurs in the brain by the formation of the neural pathway through practice. Immersion helps build and enhance neural pathways, leading to better language fluency potential.

How to immerse oneself more in a target language?

So as to overcome this challenge, learners should seek opportunities for immersion such as joining a language exchange program, engaging regularly with native speakers, traveling to countries that speak the language, and other cultural events where the language is spoken. By the passage of time, through these ways, learners can develop fluency in the new language. It must be noted that learners should remain motivated and passionate about the language to keep learning and expanding their grasp of the language.

8. Lastly, the *lack of time and consistency* is a crucial challenge that learners meet when trying to gain fluency in a new language. Language learning is a continuous process that requires routine practice and improvement, and a lack of time and consistency can make it a challenging task for learners to achieve fluency. The challenges this issue can have are:

- 8.1.Progress: The biggest problem of not having time and consistency in language learning is the lack of progress and consistency in building skills.
- 8.2. *Difficulty in Retention:* Learning a new language is challenging, and without consistent practice, learners may find it difficult to retain vocabulary, grammar, and other learned patterns, making it difficult to achieve fluency.
- 8.3.Limited exposure: Infrequent practice means limited exposure to the language and less exposure to the

scenarios and activities that occur naturally. This limits learners' ability to improve fast.

- 8.4.Ability to Speak: Without regular practice, learners fear to speak the language, leading to less fluency and the inability to speak impromptu.
- 8.5. Frustration and self-doubt: And finally, lack of progress may lead to frustration and self-doubt, affecting motivation and dedication to the constant learning process.

How to overcome?

To overcome the challenge of lack of time and consistency in language fluency, learners should create a plan or routine that fits within their schedule and adhere to that plan with diligence. It is advisable to spend at least 30 minutes daily on practice to develop fluency step-by-step. The practice may include reading books, watching movies/TV shows, conversing with native speakers, and language exchange programs to encourage conversation in the target language. Consistency in learning and regularity of practising the language will develop self-confidence, which boosts learners' ability to learn and assimilate information better.

Strategies for Enhancing Students' Language Fluency

1. Create a language-rich environment:

Surround students with language. Immersion in a languageand collaborative activities with rich environment meaningful tasks helps students internalize vocabulary, grammatical structures, and cultural nuances. This rich environment includes activities such as debates, discussions, role-plays, and collaborative projects that promote active participation, and also some strategies like displaying word walls, labels, and posters, using authentic materials, incorporating multimedia resources. and encouraging language use throughout the classroom.

2. Engage in meaningful conversations:

After establishing a proper and supportive environment for learners, encourage students to engage in discussions, debates, and group activities that promote active communication. Providing opportunities for authentic conversations enhances students' fluency by encouraging them to express their thoughts, opinions, and ideas.

3. Extensive Reading and Listening:

3.1 Reading extensively: Encourage students to read widely and regularly. Offer a variety of reading materials, including

fiction, non-fiction, newspapers, magazines, and online articles. Engaging with different genres and topics improves vocabulary, comprehension, and overall language skills.

3.2 Listening extensively: Provide ample opportunities for students to listen to authentic spoken language. Authentic listening materials play a vital role in improving students' language fluency. They refer to real-world audio or video content that reflects natural language use in authentic contexts. Use audio recordings, podcasts, videos, and interactive materials to expose students to various accents, intonation patterns, and vocabulary. This enhances their listening comprehension and facilitates language acquisition. It is important to mention that when selecting authentic listening materials, teachers should consider some points:

- 1. *Relevance:* Choose materials aligned with students' interests, language goals, and levels to enhance engagement and motivation. It is your duty as a teacher to analyze your students' needs and interests in order to make the materials effective and interesting for the class.
- 2. Authenticity: Ensure that materials reflect real-world language use, representing diverse contexts, registers, and genres.
- 3. Length and Complexity: Select materials of appropriate length and complexity to challenge students without overwhelming them. Timing is important here to consider. The material should not be too long to sap the students' energy.
- 4. Scaffolded Approach: Provide support, such as prelistening activities and guiding questions, to facilitate comprehension and enhance students' confidence.
- 5. *Differentiation (for mixed-ability classes):* Adapt materials to meet the needs of diverse learners, modifying the task difficulty, providing vocabulary support, or offering additional listening opportunities.

The Role of 'Scaffolded Learning' to Enhance Language Fluency

Scaffolded learning is an instructional approach that involves providing temporary support and guidance to learners as they acquire new knowledge and skills. The term "scaffold" refers to a temporary support system that assists learners in completing tasks or solving problems that would be challenging or beyond their current abilities without assistance. The scaffolding process involves breaking down complex tasks into smaller, more manageable steps and gradually reducing the level of support as learners gain proficiency. Some strategies in scaffolding process are: modeling, guided practice, gradual decrease of responsibility, and feedback and reflection. They all aim to support learners in reaching their full potential in their learning process. To make it more tangible, we are discussing the teaching process of different skills briefly through scaffolded ways.

For instance, to maximize the benefits of listening comprehension, while **teaching listening**, it is crucial to prepare students adequately:

- 1. Activating Prior Knowledge: Engage students by discussing the topic, brainstorming relevant vocabulary, and activating their background knowledge to establish connections.
- 2. *Pre-teaching Vocabulary:* Introduce key vocabulary, blocking words, or idiomatic expressions before listening

activities to familiarize students with essential linguistic elements.

3. Setting Listening Goals: Guide students to set specific goals for their listening, such as identifying main ideas, understanding specific details, or recognizing new vocabulary.

In addition to preparing students before playing the listening material, employ various techniques to optimize students' engagement and comprehension during the process of listening:

- 1. *Multiple Listening:* Encourage students to listen to the same material multiple times to deepen their understanding, focusing on different aspects with each repetition.
- 2. *Note-taking:* Teach students effective note-taking strategies, such as using keywords, abbreviations, and symbols, to capture important information while listening.
- 3. Comprehension Checks: Incorporate comprehension questions or tasks to ensure students' understanding of the material, encouraging critical thinking and reflection.
- 4. Interactive Discussions: Promote related discussions where students share their insights, opinions, and questions related to the listening material, fostering collaboration and active participation.

And most importantly, post-listening activities are essential for reinforcing learning and expanding students' language fluency since they have a chance to produce the language based on what they have heard through some fruitful activities, as the following:

1. Vocabulary Expansion: Provide vocabulary exercises or word banks for students to explore new words encountered during the listening activity. Then, they can be asked to make a short story using the new words, or make some examples with them. In this case, they are practising speaking and making the new words their second nature.

- 2. *Reflection and Analysis:* Engage students in reflective tasks, such as summarizing the content, discussing the main ideas, or analyzing the cultural aspects depicted in the listening material.
- 3. *Creative Outputs:* Encourage students to produce creative outputs, such as writing a response, creating a dialogue, or delivering a short presentation based on the listening material.
- 4. *Extension Activities:* Offer supplementary materials, such as related reading texts, videos, or online resources, to deepen students' understanding and provide additional language input.

Also, for working on students' speaking skills:

1. Role-play and simulations: Engage students in roleplaying activities that simulate real-life situations. This encourages them to use language creatively, apply vocabulary and grammar in context, and develop their fluency through spontaneous conversations.

2. *Debates and presentations:* Assign debates and presentations that require students to articulate their thoughts clearly and persuasively. This fosters critical thinking skills, enhances fluency, and boosts students' confidence in public speaking.

For writing skills practice:

1. Frequent writing activities: Encourage students to write regularly, both in-class and as homework. Provide varied

writing tasks, such as essays, journal entries, creative writing, and formal reports. Regular writing practice strengthens grammatical accuracy, vocabulary usage and spelling, and overall coherence.

2. *Peer and teacher feedback:* Create opportunities for students to receive feedback on their writing. Peer review sessions and teacher feedback help students identify areas for improvement, correct errors, and refine their writing skills.

Utilizing technology as a learning tool in the process of scaffolding:

Teachers can integrate technology-based language learning platforms (apps and software) into the classroom. These tools offer interactive exercises, vocabulary drills, pronunciation practice, and language games, making language learning engaging and accessible. Here are two tips to use technology in order to enhance students' language fluency.

1. Recommend some language learning apps and websites that offer interactive exercises, vocabulary drills, phrases, podcasts, and language practice to students. Below, some useful apps and websites to boost students' language fluency are mentioned:

- 1.1. Duolingo (Website and App): Duolingo offers interactive lessons in a gamified format for a wide range of languages. It covers vocabulary, grammar, reading, writing, and listening skills, providing a comprehensive language learning experience.
- 1.2.Memrise (Website and App): Memrise offers courses with mnemonic techniques to help learners memorize vocabulary effectively. It includes audio and video content, quizzes, and a community-based learning approach.

- 1.3.HelloTalk (App): HelloTalk connects language learners worldwide, allowing them to practise with native speakers through text, voice, and video messages. It provides a language exchange platform for immersive language practice.
- *1.4.FluentU (Website and App):* FluentU offers authentic language content, including videos, movie trailers, news, and music, with interactive captions and quizzes. It helps learners improve their listening skills and vocabulary in a natural context.
- 1.5. Quizlet (Website and App): Quizlet is a versatile platform for creating and accessing flashcards and study materials. It offers various language learning features, such as games, audio recordings, and vocabulary practice.
- 1.6.Lingoda (Website and App): Lingoda offers live online language classes with qualified teachers. It provides personalized lessons and feedback, focusing on speaking and listening skills to enhance fluency.

2. Encourage students to use these resources outside the classroom to reinforce their language skills and engage in self-paced learning.

The Science of Shadowing A Great Method for Boosting Fluency

Language learners often seek effective methods to enhance their fluency. One approach gaining attention is "shadowing", a technique that involves simultaneously listening to and repeating spoken language. In this section, we will be exploring the science behind shadowing, its benefits, and how learners can incorporate it into their language learning routine to improve their fluency.

1. The Theory Behind Shadowing: Shadowing is rooted in the concept of auditory-motor integration, a process where auditory input is linked to motor output. When engaging in shadowing, learners listen to an audio source (e.g., native speaker, recorded speech) and simultaneously repeat or 'shadow' the same utterances. This synchronized action strengthens the neural connections between auditorv production, perception and speech facilitating the development of fluency.

2. Cognitive Benefits of Shadowing: Shadowing offers several cognitive benefits that contribute to improved fluency:

2.1.Attention and focus: Shadowing requires learners to concentrate on both the auditory input and their own pronunciation, enhancing attentional control and focus.

- 2.2. *Phonological awareness:* By closely mimicking the audio source, learners develop heightened phonological awareness, improving their ability to perceive and reproduce sounds accurately.
- 2.3.Rhythm and prosody: Shadowing helps learners internalize the natural rhythm, intonation, and stress patterns of the target language, leading to more natural-sounding speech.
- 2.4. Chunking and automaticity: Through repetition, shadowing helps learners internalize language patterns and chunks, enabling more fluid and automatic speech production.

3. Steps to Effective Shadowing:

- *3.1.Choose suitable materials:* Select audio materials that match your language level, preferably with clear pronunciation and varied speech patterns.
- 3.2.Start with short segments: Begin by shadowing short segments, such as individual sentences or phrases, to focus on accuracy and rhythm.
- *3.3.Increase complexity gradually:* Gradually increase the length and difficulty of the segments as you gain proficiency, challenging yourself to keep up with the pace.
- 3.4.Pay attention to pronunciation: Focus on imitating the speaker's pronunciation, intonation, stress, and rhythm to enhance your own pronunciation and fluency.
- 3.5. Utilize technology: Utilize audio devices or languagelearning apps that allow you to repeat and compare your shadowing with the original audio and provide instant feedback. Some good apps in this field are:

- *ELSA Speak:* ELSA¹ is an app designed to help users improve their pronunciation and speaking skills. It provides real-time feedback as you shadow recorded conversations and offers personalized recommendations for improvement.
- *FluentU:* FluentU is an immersive language learning app that incorporates authentic videos, audio clips, and interactive exercises. It offers feedback on pronunciation as you shadow and repeat the recorded content, helping you refine your language skills.
- *Rosetta Stone:* Rosetta Stone is a well-known language learning platform that offers an app version. It provides pronunciation exercises with instant feedback as you shadow recorded dialogues, helping you refine your spoken language skills.
- *HiNative:* HiNative is a language exchange app that allows users to ask questions and receive feedback from native speakers. You can use the app to record and share your spoken responses, receiving instant feedback and corrections from native speakers of the language you're learning.
- *3.6.Practise Regularly:* Consistent practice is crucial. Incorporate shadowing into your language learning routine and allocate time to this exercise.

4. Complementary Techniques:

4.1. Recording and self-Evaluation: Record your shadowing practice sessions to review and assess your progress, identifying areas for improvement.

¹⁻ English Language Speech Assistant

- 4.2. *Transcription and analysis:* Transcribe the audio source and compare it with your shadowing version to analyze differences and refine your pronunciation and intonation.
- 4.3. Variation and contextualization: Experiment with shadowing different speakers, styles, and contexts to expose yourself to a wide range of linguistic patterns and situational dialogues.

Conversational Strategies for Fluent Communication

Conversational skills play a pivotal role in achieving fluency in any language. Effective communication involves not only understanding the words and grammar but also being able to engage in dynamic and meaningful conversations. In this section, we will delve into various conversational strategies that can help language learners improve their fluency and confidently navigate real-life interactions.

1.Active Listening: One of the fundamental elements of successful conversations is active listening. It involves paying full attention to the speaker, understanding their message, and responding appropriately. To enhance active listening skills, learners can employ techniques such as maintaining eye contact, nodding or using affirmative expressions to show understanding, and asking relevant follow-up questions. Practising active listening fosters better comprehension and allows for more meaningful contributions to the conversation.

2.Turn-Taking: A vital aspect of conversational fluency is the ability to navigate turn-taking smoothly. Learners should be aware of the appropriate moments to contribute their ideas, without interrupting or dominating the conversation. Strategies such as observing natural pauses, utilizing polite
phrases to interject, and respecting others' speaking time can help maintain a balanced and engaging conversation.

3.Asking Open-Ended Questions: Asking open-ended questions is a powerful strategy for initiating and sustaining conversations. These types of questions encourage the speaker to provide detailed responses to extend the conversation. Language learners should practise asking wh-questions that begin with '*what*', '*why*', '*how*', or '*tell me about*' to prompt in-depth answers and facilitate meaningful discussions.

4.Using Conversational Fillers and Connectors: Conversational fillers and connectors are linguistic devices that facilitate smooth and cohesive conversations. Fillers, such as *'uhm'*, *'well'*, or *'you know'* help maintain a natural flow when pausing or searching for words. Connectors, such as *'however'*, *'on the other hand'*, or *'in addition'* aid in transitioning between ideas and linking thoughts coherently. By incorporating these linguistic devices appropriately, learners can enhance their conversational fluidity.

5.Active Participation and Engagement: Active participation is crucial for developing fluency. Learners should strive to actively engage in conversations by expressing their opinions, sharing personal experiences, and providing relevant examples. Actively participating in discussions allows learners to practise their language skills, gain confidence, and establish a genuine connection with others.

6.Navigating Challenging Situations: Language learners may encounter challenging situations during conversations, such as misunderstandings, disagreements, or difficult topics. It is important to develop strategies to navigate these situations gracefully. This includes paraphrasing to confirm understanding, using appropriate expressions to express disagreement respectfully, and employing diplomatic language to diffuse tension. By being prepared for such

37 Conversational Strategies for Fluent Communication

scenarios, learners can maintain the flow of conversation while demonstrating cultural sensitivity and effective communication.

7.Practising Conversational Fluency: Fluency in conversation requires consistent practice. Language learners should actively seek opportunities to engage in conversations with native speakers, join language exchange programs, or participate in discussion groups. Regular practice helps build confidence, refine language skills, and adapt to different speaking styles and contexts.

The Effect of Storytelling on Students' Fluency in the Classroom

Storytelling is an age-old tradition that has been used as a powerful tool for communication and entertainment across different cultures and generations. In the educational context, storytelling holds immense potential as a pedagogical strategy to enhance students' fluency. By integrating storytelling into the classroom, educators can create a dynamic learning environment that fosters language development, critical thinking, cultural awareness, and social-emotional skills. Studies have shown that using storytelling in English language classrooms has positive effects that helps students improve their language skills. They also found

that storytelling does offer children certain educational benefits. This part explores the positive effects of storytelling on students' fluency and highlights its significance in the classroom setting.

1. Language Development: Storytelling provides a rich linguistic context that facilitates language acquisition and development. When students listen to stories, they are exposed to a diverse range of vocabulary, sentence structures, and language patterns. This exposure helps to expand their vocabulary, improve sentence construction, and develop a deeper understanding of grammar. Furthermore, storytelling

engages students in meaningful conversations, encouraging them to actively participate and practise their speaking and listening skills. Through this process, students gain confidence in expressing themselves fluently and coherently.

2. Reading Comprehension: Storytelling contributes to the enhancement of reading comprehension skills. As students listen to stories, they learn to follow narratives, identify plot elements, make predictions, and infer meanings. These activities promote critical thinking, analytical skills, and the ability to draw connections between different story elements. Consequently, students become more adept at understanding written texts, as they develop a stronger foundation in comprehension strategies through storytelling experiences.

3. Cultural Awareness and Empathy: Storytelling opens a window to different cultures, traditions, and perspectives. By sharing stories from various cultural backgrounds, educators cultivate an inclusive classroom environment that celebrates diversity. Students gain exposure to different belief systems, values, and experiences, fostering cultural awareness and empathy. This exposure broadens students' perspectives, helping them appreciate and respect the diversity in their classroom and the world beyond.

4. Creativity: Storytelling nurtures creativity in students. As they listen to stories, they visualize characters, settings, and events in their minds. This process encourages creative thinking, problem-solving, and the ability to generate original ideas. Students also have the opportunity to engage in creative activities related to storytelling, such as writing their own stories, illustrating scenes, or even performing dramatizations. These activities stimulate their creativity and allow for personal expression, contributing to overall fluency development.

5. Social-Emotional Skills: Storytelling promotes the development of social-emotional skills in students. As they engage with stories, students connect with characters,

empathize with their experiences, and navigate complex emotions within the narrative. This emotional engagement enhances students' emotional intelligence, empathy, and interpersonal skills. Additionally, storytelling encourages active listening, turn-taking, and respectful communication, fostering a positive classroom environment that supports social interaction and collaboration.

Hesitation and Pause

Effective communication requires fluent and coherent speech. However, many students experience hesitation and pauses while speaking, which can impede their language fluency and confidence. This chapter explores the factors contributing to students' hesitation and pauses in speaking and discusses the implications for language learning. Understanding these factors can help teachers plan targeted strategies to support students in overcoming this challenge and promoting smooth and confident speaking skills.

1. Anxiety and Lack of Confidence:

- 1.1.Fear of Making Mistakes: Students may hesitate or pause due to a fear of making grammatical errors, mispronouncing words, or being judged by peers or teachers.
- 1.2.Self-Consciousness: Students' self-awareness and concern about their language abilities can lead to self-monitoring, resulting in hesitation and pauses during speech.
- 1.3.Lack of Confidence: Insufficient confidence in their language skills or fear of being misunderstood may cause students to pause and search for the right words or expressions.

2. Limited Vocabulary and Language Resources:

2.1.Lexical Retrieval Difficulties: Students may hesitate or pause while searching for appropriate words or phrases in

their mental lexicon, especially when expressing complex ideas or unfamiliar topics.

- 2.2.Lack of Fluency Markers: Students may struggle to use fillers, connectors, and discourse markers that enhance fluency and maintain a coherent flow of speech, resulting in pauses and interruptions.
- 2.3.Limited Language Proficiency: Insufficient knowledge of grammar rules, sentence structures, or idiomatic expressions can hinder students' ability to generate fluent speech, leading to hesitations.

3. Cognitive Processing and Planning:

- 3.1.Cognitive Overload: Students may experience cognitive overload when attempting to process information, think in the target language, and plan their responses simultaneously, causing hesitations and pauses.
- 3.2.Sentence Formulation Challenges: Constructing grammatically correct and coherent sentences in real-time requires cognitive effort, leading to pauses as students organize their thoughts and structure their speech.
- 3.3. Translation or L1 Interference: When students mentally translate from their first language or face interference from their native language's syntax or pronunciation, it can result in hesitation and pauses.

4. Sociocultural Factors:

- 4.1.Sociocultural Norms: Cultural norms that prioritize politeness, turn-taking, or longer pauses for thoughtful responses can influence students' speaking behavior and contribute to hesitation and pauses.
- 4.2. Peer Pressure and Evaluation Anxiety: Students may hesitate due to the pressure of being evaluated by their peers or teachers, fearing negative judgment or embarrassment.

4.3.Language Environment: Limited exposure to authentic language contexts, lack of opportunities for conversation, or speaking in a non-native environment can create psychological barriers, leading to hesitations.

Strategies for Overcoming Hesitation:

1. Create a Supportive Environment: Foster a safe and inclusive classroom environment that encourages risk-taking and emphasizes the importance of progress over perfection.

2. Build Confidence: Provide opportunities for students to practise speaking in low-stakes settings, such as pair or small group activities, where they can gain confidence and receive constructive feedback.

3. Vocabulary and Language Practice: Incorporate vocabulary-building exercises, language drills, and communicative activities that allow students to practise using target words, phrases, and fluency markers.

4. Speaking Fluency Exercises: Implement activities that focus on developing fluency, such as timed speaking tasks, impromptu speeches, or role-playing, to help students become more comfortable with spontaneous speech (some engaging tasks are introduced in chapter 13).

5. Error Correction Strategies: Provide targeted and constructive feedback to address specific language errors, helping students improve accuracy without increasing anxiety.

6. Gradual Exposure to Authentic Materials: Introduce authentic listening materials, videos, and conversations gradually, allowing students to familiarize themselves with natural speech patterns and build their listening comprehension skills.

It must be noted that, in the opinion of Jeremy Harmer, a well-known educator and author in the field of language teaching, the approach to error correction in terms of fluency should be balanced and focused on maintaining rather communication flow than emphasizing solely accuracy. Harmer advocates for an approach that encourages learners to take risks and communicate their ideas fluently without fear of constant correction, which may hinder their fluency development.

According to Harmer, immediate and constant error correction can disrupt the natural flow of conversation and discourage learners from taking linguistic risks. Instead, he suggests providing delayed error correction, allowing learners to express themselves freely during the speaking activity. This approach prioritizes maintaining the learners' fluency and overall communication while noting down the errors for later discussion.

Using Fillers to Avoid Hesitation

Fillers in speaking refer to words or phrases used to fill pauses, hesitations, or gaps in speech when a person is searching for the right words or organizing their thoughts. They serve as temporary placeholders to maintain the flow of conversation while the speaker gathers their ideas. Or simply put, by using fillers, the speaker wants to signal a delay.¹ Fillers are common in everyday language use and can be particularly useful in reducing hesitation and promoting fluency in spoken communication.

1. Purpose of Fillers: Fillers play several important roles in spoken language:

- *Reducing Silence:* Fillers prevent awkward pauses or silence in conversation, keeping the interaction active and engaging.
- *Signal of Thought Process:* They signal to the listener that the speaker is actively thinking and considering their response.
- *Buying Time:* Fillers provide a momentary pause to gather thoughts or recall information, allowing the speaker to formulate a more precise response.

¹⁻ Either searching for language or thinking about the content

- *Maintaining Turn-Taking:* They help retain the floor during a conversation, signaling to others that the speaker is not finished speaking.

2. Common Types of Fillers: Fillers can take various forms and vary across languages and cultures. Some common fillers include:

- 'Um', 'uh', 'well', 'you know', 'like', 'so', 'I mean', 'actually', 'basically', etc.
- Repetition of words or phrases, such as 'I think' or 'you know'.

3. Strategic Use of Fillers: While fillers can enhance fluency and maintain the flow of speech, it is important to use them strategically:

- *Natural and Minimal:* Use fillers sparingly and in a natural manner, without excessive repetition or overuse.
- Avoid Overdependence: It is crucial not to rely too heavily on fillers, as it can distract the listener or diminish the clarity of your message.
- *Pausing for Effect:* Occasionally, purposeful pauses without fillers can be used to create emphasis, highlight a point, or build anticipation.

4. Developing Fluent Speech: To minimize the need for fillers and improve fluency in speaking, consider the following strategies:

- *Practice Active Listening:* Pay attention to how native speakers or proficient speakers use pauses and fillers naturally in their speech.
- *Expand Vocabulary:* Enhance your vocabulary to have a wider range of words and phrases at your disposal, reducing the need for fillers when searching for words.

49	Using Fillers to Avoid Hesitation

- *Thought Organization:* Develop effective strategies to organize your thoughts before speaking, enabling smoother and more coherent speech.
- *Speaking Practice:* Engage in regular speaking practice, such as conversation exchanges, presentations, or role-plays to build confidence and fluency.

How to Cultivate Abundant & Engaging Ideas for Fluent Speaking

One of the keys to fluent speaking is having a rich repertoire of ideas that can be expressed confidently and coherently. Below, some practical strategies to help students generate enough and good ideas are mentioned, which enable them to speak at length with fluency.

Develop a Curious Mindset: Cultivating a curious mindset is the foundation for generating a wealth of ideas. Encourage students to explore various topics, ask questions, and seek knowledge beyond their comfort zones. By nurturing curiosity, students can expand their knowledge base and develop a broader range of ideas to draw upon.

Engage in Extensive Reading: Reading widely exposes students to different perspectives, ideas, and writing styles. Encourage students to explore diverse genres, such as fiction, non-fiction, news articles, and opinion pieces. As they encounter new concepts and viewpoints, students can synthesize and internalize these ideas, enhancing their ability to articulate thoughts fluently.

Embrace Active Listening: Active listening is an essential skill for idea generation. Encourage students to actively engage in conversations, lectures, podcasts, and other audio content. By listening attentively, students can absorb new

Speaking Fluency

ideas, gain insights, and develop the ability to articulate their thoughts effectively.

Foster Critical Thinking: Critical thinking helps students analyze and evaluate ideas. Encourage students to question assumptions, identify biases, and examine arguments from multiple perspectives. By developing critical thinking skills, students can form well-rounded opinions and engage in thoughtful discussions.

Brainstorming Techniques: Teach students various brainstorming techniques to generate ideas. For instance, mind mapping, freewriting, and listing can help organize thoughts and stimulate creativity. Encourage students to brainstorm before speaking activities, allowing them to gather and structure ideas to speak fluently.¹

Utilize Visual Aids: Visual aids can aid idea generation and organization. Encourage students to create diagrams, flowcharts, or concept maps to visually represent their ideas. These visual tools serve as prompts, ensuring students have a clear roadmap while speaking, enabling them to elaborate on their ideas confidently.

Practice Expressive Speaking: Regular practice of expressive speaking activities, such as debates, presentations, and storytelling, allows students to apply their ideas in reallife contexts. Engage students in role plays, group discussions, or public speaking events to foster their ability to express thoughts fluently and coherently.

Reflect and Refine: Encourage students to reflect on their speaking experiences and seek feedback. Self-reflection helps students identify areas for improvement and refine their ideas. Provide constructive feedback, highlight strengths and suggest ways to enhance their fluency and idea development.

¹⁻ Chapter 11 is discussing brainstorming.

Cultivate a Growth Mindset: Nurture a growth mindset among students, emphasizing that the ability to generate ideas and speak fluently is developed through practice and effort. Encourage them to embrace challenges, persist in their speaking endeavors, and view mistakes as opportunities for growth.

How to Improve Students' Brainstorming Skill

Developing students' brainstorming skills is essential for enhancing their creativity, critical thinking, and problemsolving abilities. Here is a detailed guide on how to work on students' brainstorming skills, including various activities with examples.

Make Students Familar with Brainstorming: Start by explaining the concept of brainstorming to students. Emphasize that it is a process of generating ideas and encouraging free thinking without judgment. Discuss the importance of brainstorming in different areas of life, such as academics, projects, and personal growth.

Create a Safe and Supportive Environment: Foster a positive and friendly classroom atmosphere where students feel comfortable expressing their ideas without fear of criticism. Encourage open-mindedness and emphasize that all ideas are valuable during brainstorming sessions.

Teach Brainstorming Techniques: Introduce students to different brainstorming techniques to expand their repertoire of idea generation strategies. Some popular techniques include:

- *Free Writing:* Students jot down all their ideas related to a given topic without any filtering or editing.
- *Mind Mapping:* Encourage students to create visual diagrams that link various ideas and concepts together.

- *Role Storming:* Students assume different roles or perspectives to explore ideas from multiple angles.
- *SCAMPER:* Teach students to ask questions about an existing idea or problem, using prompts like: Substitute, Combine, Adapt, Modify, Put to another use, Eliminate, and Reverse.

Engage in Group Brainstorming Activities: Group activities promote collaboration and the exchange of diverse perspectives. Sharing ideas in groups can be cognitively stimulating¹, and enhances idea generation due to increased associative processes² and exposure to different idea categories³. Teachers should be cautioned that while group idea sharing can be stimulating and useful, it may also distract attention from one's individual thought process, leading to cognitive interference. As Ritter and Rietzschel⁴ said: "when generating ideas in a group, people have to take turns in expressing their ideas. If we have to wait for somebody else to stop speaking, not only can we easily forget an idea we have just come up with, but it is also difficult to continue thinking about the problem to come up with new ideas, since our cognitive resources are engaged in listening to the other person". Also, grouping can diminish the accountability of individuals in their performance since different ideas from various students are mixed together. We call this process 'social loafing'. Therefore, it is recommended that teachers have students work both individually and in a group. Below, there are some brainstorming activities:

¹⁻ Nijstad and Stroebe Citation, 2006; Paulus and Citation, 2007

²⁻ Dugosh, Paulus, Roland, and Yang Citation, 2000; Nijstad, Stroebe, and Lodewijkx Citation, 2002

³⁻ e.g., Deuja, Kohn, Paulus, and Korde Citation, 2014 4- Citation, 2017, p.112

- *Round-Robin Brainstorming:* Each student takes turns sharing one idea, building upon the previous contributions.
- *Brainstorming Circles:* Divide students into small groups and provide each group with a specific topic or problem to brainstorm. After a fixed time, rotate the groups to ensure exposure to different ideas.
- *Gallery Walk:* Post various topics or problem statements around the room. Students move around, writing their ideas on sticky notes or cards under each topic.

Encourage Individual Brainstorming Activities: Individual activities allow students to develop their independent thinking skills. Consider the following activities:

- Personal Journals: Students maintain a brainstorming journal to record their thoughts, ideas, and reflections on different topics regularly.
- Picture Prompts: Show students a picture or image and ask them to generate as many ideas as possible related to the visual stimulus.
- Online Idea Generation Tools: Introduce students to digital platforms like mind-mapping software, online brainstorming tools, or collaborative platforms to facilitate virtual brainstorming.

Provide Stimulating Prompts: Sometimes, students may struggle to initiate the brainstorming process. Provide them with thought-provoking prompts to jump-start their thinking. For instance:

- 'How can we reduce plastic waste in our school?'
- 'What are some innovative ways to improve transportation in our city?'
- 'Brainstorm ideas for a creative writing story set in a futuristic world.'

Speaking Fluency

Evaluate and Discuss Ideas: After a brainstorming session, guide students on evaluating their ideas based on relevance, feasibility, and originality. Encourage constructive feedback and peer discussion to refine and develop the most promising concepts further.

Integration into Curriculum: Integrate brainstorming activities into various subjects, such as science, social studies, language arts, and problem-solving exercises. This will help students understand the practical applications of brainstorming in different contexts.

How to Build Up Students' Confidence

Building up students' confidence is necessary for their academic success, personal development, and overall wellbeing. Here, we discuss some outlining strategies to effectively enhance students' confidence:

- Establish a Supportive Environment: Create a safe, nice, and supportive classroom atmosphere where students feel valued and respected. Encourage positive interactions, foster a sense of belonging, and address any instances of bullying or discrimination promptly. A supportive environment lays the foundation for building confidence.
- Provide Constructive Feedback: Offer specific and constructive feedback that focuses on students' efforts, progress, and strengths. Highlight their achievements and areas of improvement, guiding them towards success. Encourage self-reflection and self-assessment to help students recognize their own growth and build confidence in their abilities.
- Award a Prize to Students for Achievements: Recognize students' progress and success by awarding them a prize. Displaying these awards publicly can build up their confidence.
- Encourage Goal Setting: Assist students in setting realistic, achievable goals. Break down larger goals into

smaller, manageable steps, and help students track their progress along the way. Celebrate their accomplishments to boost their confidence and motivation.

- **Emphasize Effort and Persistence:** Foster a growth mindset by emphasizing the importance of effort and perseverance. Teach students that challenges and setbacks are opportunities for learning and growth. As mentioned before, encourage them to view mistakes as part of the learning process and to persist in the face of difficulties.
- **Promote Active Participation:** Provide opportunities for active participation in class discussions, group activities, and presentations. Encourage students to share their ideas and opinions, fostering a sense of ownership and confidence in their abilities to contribute meaningfully to the learning environment.
- Offer Varied Learning Experiences: Engage students in a variety of learning experiences that cater to different strengths and learning styles. This can include hands-on activities, collaborative projects, debates, role-playing, or multimedia presentations. By experiencing success in various contexts, students can build confidence across different domains.
- Cultivate Positive Self-Talk: Teach students the importance of positive self-talk and how it affects their confidence. Encourage them to replace self-doubt or negative thoughts with affirming statements. Provide strategies to challenge negative beliefs and reframe them in a positive light. Help students recognize their unique qualities and strengths.
- Encourage Autonomy and Decision-Making: Foster independence by allowing students to make choices and decisions within the learning environment, or even in setting the rules of class. Provide opportunities for them

to take ownership of their learning, such as selecting topics for projects or designing their own learning paths. Empowering students in decision-making builds their confidence and self-assurance.

- Celebrate Diversity and Success: Embrace and celebrate the diversity of your students. Recognize and appreciate their individual talents, cultures, and achievements. Create a culture of encouragement, where students support and celebrate each other's successes, fostering a positive and confident classroom community.
- Role Model Confidence: As an educator, model confidence in your own abilities and actions. Demonstrate resilience, problem-solving skills, and a growth mindset. Share personal stories of overcoming challenges to inspire and motivate students. When students see confidence in your action, they are more likely to emulate it.

Remember: Building confidence is an ongoing process that requires consistent effort and reinforcement. By implementing the aforementioned strategies, you can create an environment that nurtures students' self-assurance, enabling them to thrive academically and personally.

Engaging Tasks to Enhance Students' Language Fluency

Language fluency, as somehow mentioned before, is a crucial aspect of effective communication, and it plays a significant role in students' academic and professional success. To cultivate language fluency, educators must employ engaging tasks that provide meaningful and immersive language learning experiences. This chapter aims to explore a variety of effective strategies and activities that can enhance students' language fluency.

Important Note: As an educator, it is important to recognize the significance of running one task or activity several times rather than only once. Carrying out one task at different times, in different situations, even with the same students experiencing different moods, is more efficient than conducting different tasks only once.

These engaging tasks, below, promote active participation, critical thinking, and linguistic creativity. By incorporating them into the language learning curriculum, teachers can create a dynamic and stimulating environment that fosters language fluency development. First, we introduce, then we go into detail for each.

1. Interactive Discussions and Debates:

- Structured debates on relevant topics
- Academic seminars for critical thinking
- Role-playing scenarios to enhance conversational skills
- Collaborative problem-solving activities

2. Creative Writing Exercises:

- Journaling and reflective writing
- Descriptive writing exercises
- Storytelling and narrative development
- Writing prompts and guided compositions

3. Multimedia Projects:

- Podcasting and audio recordings
- Video production and editing
- Digital storytelling and presentations
- Creating online blogs or websites

4. Language Games and Puzzles:

- Word games like Scrabble and Boggle
- Crossword puzzles and word search activities
- Language-focused board games
- Language learning apps and software

5. Real-life Simulations:

- Mock interviews and job simulations
- Restaurant role-plays and ordering scenarios
- Travel and cultural immersion experiences
- Classroom projects based on real-world situations

65 Engaging Tasks to Enhance Students' Language Fluency

6. Collaborative Projects:

- Group presentations and debates
- Cooperative writing tasks
- Designing and conducting surveys
- Research projects and group investigations

7. Authentic Materials and Resources:

- Reading and analyzing newspaper articles
- Watching movies or TV shows with subtitles
- Listening to podcasts and radio broadcasts
- Engaging with social media and online communities

8. Incorporating Technology:

- Online language learning platforms
- Language learning apps and software
- Virtual reality and augmented reality applications
- Web-based collaborative tools and platforms

9. Assessment and Feedback:

- Formative and summative assessment strategies
- Constructive feedback and self-reflection
- Peer evaluation and collaborative assessment
- Portfolios and student-led conferences

10. Overcoming Challenges:

- Addressing diverse learner needs
- Motivating reluctant learners
- Promoting inclusivity in language fluency tasks
- Adapting tasks for different proficiency levels

Now, let's discuss each in detail.

1. Interactive Discussions and Debates:

Engaging students in interactive discussions and debates promotes critical thinking, active participation, and improves their oral communication skills. Structured debates on relevant topics encourage students to research and develop persuasive arguments while respecting opposing viewpoints. Academic seminars stimulate analytical thinking as students engage in thoughtful dialogue and ask probing questions. Role-playing scenarios provide opportunities for practicing conversational skills in various contexts, such as job interviews or social interactions. Collaborative problemsolving activities encourage teamwork, creativity, and communication.

2. Creative Writing Exercises:

Creative writing exercises provide students with an outlet to express themselves, develop their writing skills, and expand their vocabulary. Journaling and reflective writing encourage self-expression, self-reflection, and personal growth. Descriptive writing exercises allow students to sharpen their observation skills and paint vivid pictures with words. Storytelling and narrative development foster creativity and thought and encourage students to construct coherent narratives. Writing prompts and guided compositions provide structure and guidance, enabling students to develop their writing skills systematically.

3. Multimedia Projects:

Multimedia projects offer a dynamic and engaging way for students to develop language fluency. Podcasting and audio recordings provide opportunities to improve pronunciation, intonation, and public speaking skills. Video production and editing projects enhance communication skills through scripting, filming, and editing processes. Digital storytelling and presentations allow students to combine language skills with multimedia elements to create compelling narratives. Creating online blogs or websites encourages students to write for real audiences while exploring technology tools.

4. Language Games and Puzzles:

Language games and puzzles make language learning enjoyable and interactive. Word games like Scrabble and Boggle promote vocabulary expansion, spelling, and word formation skills. Crossword puzzles and word search activities reinforce vocabulary retention and improve reading comprehension. Language-focused board games provide opportunities for practising language skills in a competitive yet fun environment. Language learning apps and software offer gamified experiences that engage students through interactive exercises and challenges.

5. Real-life Simulations:

Real-life simulations provide students with authentic contexts to practise language skills. Mock interviews and job simulations enable students to practise professional communication and interview techniques. Restaurant roleplays and ordering scenarios simulate real-world interactions and develop language skills specific to dining and hospitality. Travel and cultural immersion experiences, whether physical or virtual, expose students to diverse cultures, languages, and communicative contexts. Classroom projects based on realworld situations promote problem-solving, collaboration, and language use in practical scenarios.

The Effect of Non-Verbal Communication on Language Fluency

Language fluency, traditionally understood as the ability to effectively express oneself and comprehend verbal aspects of a language, represents a crucial dimension of language acquisition. However, communication encompasses more than just words. Non-verbal communication, comprising body language, facial expressions, gestures, and intonation, significantly influences the overall effectiveness of linguistic proficiency and plays a fundamental role in successful intercultural interactions. This chapter focuses on exploring the profound impact of non-verbal communication on language fluency, highlighting its role in enhancing communicative competence.

One of the key contributions of non-verbal communication lies in its ability to convey meaning beyond the literal interpretation of spoken words. Facial expressions, for instance, can communicate emotions, attitudes. and intentions, providing valuable context to verbal messages. A smile, a raised eyebrow, or a furrowed forehead can enrich communication by conveying warmth, skepticism, or concern. Another example can be an infant who relies heavily on caregiver's non-verbal cues of facial expressions. Similarly, body language, such as posture, gestures, and eve contact, adds depth and nuance to verbal communication, enabling individuals to express emphasis, agreement, or disagreement. For example, nodding affirmatively while saying 'yes' reinforces the verbal affirmation and reinforces understanding. Or in classrooms, a teacher's use of appropriate hand gestures while explaining a complex grammar rule can help students grasp the concept more effectively.

Moreover, non-verbal cues play a crucial role in crosscultural communication. Different cultures have distinct nonverbal communication patterns and interpretations, and understanding of these cultural nuances is vital for effective intercultural interactions. For example, direct eye contact may be seen as a sign of respect and engagement in some cultures, while in others, it might be perceived as impolite or confrontational. By being aware of and appropriately employing non-verbal communication patterns specific to a particular culture, language learners can demonstrate cultural sensitivity, foster better understanding, and build up a good rapport with native speakers.

Non-verbal communication also assists in filling gaps in comprehension and compensating for language limitations. When encountering unfamiliar vocabulary or struggling to find the right words, learners can rely on non-verbal cues to bridge the communication gap. Using gestures, miming actions, or relying on facial expressions can help convey meaning and ensure understanding, even when linguistic fluency may be temporarily hindered.

Furthermore, non-verbal communication is closely tied to listening skills and active engagement in conversations. Effective listening involves not only comprehending the words spoken but also attentively observing non-verbal cues. Paying attention to the speaker's facial expressions, body language, and intonation help people grasp the intended meaning and subtext of the message. By actively observing and responding to non-verbal cues, language learners can become more attuned to the nuances of communication, leading to improving their overall language fluency. And as it is stated by Puccinelli¹, non-verbal communication, especially facial expressions or body movements, are even more important than any kind of verbal output in the perception of the recipient.

1- Puccinelli, 2010

References

- Butcher, A. 1980. Pause and syntactic structure. In Temporal variables in speech, H.W.Dechert & M.Raupach (eds), 85-90. Thr Hague: Mouton de Gruyter.
- Butterworth, B. 1975. Hesitation and semantic planning in speech. Journal of psycholinguistic research 4(1): 75-87.
- Bygate, M. 1987. Speaking. Oxford : Oxford University Press.
- Chafe, W. 1985. Som reasons for hesitating. In Perspective on Silence, D.Tannen & M.Saville-Troike (eds), 21-30. Norwood Nj: Albex.
- Chambers, F. 1997. What do you mean by fluency? System 25(4): 535-544.
- Derwing, T.M, Munro, M.J. Thomsaon, R.I. & Rossiter, M.J. 2009. The relationship between L1 fluency and L2 fluency development. Studies in Second Language Acquisition 31(4): 533-557.
- Ekman, P & Friesen, W.V. 1969. The repertoire of nonverbal behavior: Categories, origins, usage, and coding. Semiotica 1: 49-98.
- Guillot, M.N. 1999. Fluency and its Teaching. Clevedon: Multilingual Matters.
- Gullberg, M. 1998. Gesture as a Communication Strategy in Second Language Discourse: Lund University Press.
- Key, M.R (ed). 1980a. The Relationship of Verbal and Nonverbal Communication. The Hague: Mouton.
- Leeson, R. 1975. Fluency and Language Teaching. London. Longman.
- Lennon, P. 1990a. Investigating fluency in EFL: A quantitave approach. Language Learning 40(3): 387-417.

- Maclay, H., & Osgood, C. E. (1959). Hesitation phenomena in spontaneous English speech. Word, 15, 19–44.
- Mullen, B., Johnson, C., & Salas, E. (1991). Productivity loss in brainstorming groups: A meta-analytic integration. Basic and Applied Psychology.
- Mullen, B., Johnson, C., & Salas, E. (1991). Productivity loss in brainstorming groups: A meta-analytic integration. Basic and Applied Psychology.
- R. Towell, R. Hawkins, and N. Bazergui. 1996. The development of fluency in advanced learners of French. Applied Linguistics, 17 (1), 84-119.
- Ritter, S. M., and N. Mostert. 2017. "Enhancement of Creative Thinking Skills Using a Cognitive-Based Creativity Training." Journal of Cognitive Enhancement.
- Sawyer, R. K. 2012. Explaining creativity: the science of human innovation. 2nd ed. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Troustle, S., Hicks, S.J. 1998. The effects of storytelling versus story reading on the story comprehension and vocabulary knowledge of British primary school children. Reading Improvement 53 (3), 127–136.
- Ushioda, E. 2003. Motivation as a socially mediated process. In D. Little, J. Ridley & E.
- Watson, W., Michaelsen, L. K., & Sharp, W. (1991). Member competence, group interaction, and group decision making: A longitudinal study. Journal of Applied Psychology.

In an increasingly interconnected world, the ability to communicate effectively in multiple languages has become a coveted skill, opening doors to new opportunities, enriching cultural understanding, and fostering connections across borders. Language fluency goes beyond the mere grasp of vocabulary and grammar; it embodies the art of confidently expressing oneself, effortlessly navigating conversations, and immersing in the essence of a new linguistic world.